## **Study Protocol**

Out-of-hours doctors' confidence when dealing with symptom control in palliative care patients

Principal investigator: Mark Taubert

MSc supervisor: Annmarie Nelson

Educational Organisation: Cardiff University

Study initiation date: Oct 2007

Planned Study completion date: 30th Sept 2009

Correspondence: Dr Mark Taubert mtaubert@

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

**1.0 ABSTRACT** 

#### 2.0 INTRODUCTION

#### **3.0 CONTEXT**

- 3.1 General Context
- 3.2 Current Hot Topic: National Context
- 3.3 Local Context: existing services

#### 4.0 BACKGROUND

- 4.1 General Practice and Palliative Care Provision
- 4.2 Research that has already been done on palliative care training for general practitioners and existing knowledge base

#### **5.0 AIMS**

- 6.0 METHODOLOGY
  - 6.1 Initial Reflection and Preparation
  - 6.2 Study Design
  - 6.3 Recruitment
  - 6.4 Inclusion Criteria
  - 6.5 Exclusion Criteria
  - 6.6 Interview Procedure

#### 7.0 DATA ANALYSIS

- 8.0 DATA STORAGE
- 9.0 ETHICS
- **10.0 ADVERSE EVENTS**
- **11.0 COSTS AND EXPENSES**
- **12.0 SPONSORSHIP**
- **13.0 TIMETABLE OF EVENTS**
- 14.0 APENDICES INCLUDING PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET AND CONSENT FORM
- **15.0 REFERENCES/ CITATIONS**

## 1.0 Abstract:

Since the introduction of the new out-of-hours (OOH) provisions under the General Practitioner Contract in October 2004, care provision outside normal working hours has changed drastically and only a small percentage of the overall general practitioner workforce still works in this specific setting. The term 'out-of-hours' in the United Kingdom is defined as evenings, weekends from Friday evening to Monday morning, and public holidays. This reflects the working hours of many primary care and palliative care staff, although GP surgeries' opening hours vary within the working hours of 8 am and 6.30 pm.

By interviewing 10 General Practitioners who provide out-of-hours care for the Cardiff area, this project sets out to explore factors influencing their confidence in dealing with symptom control and palliative care provision outside regular working hours.

## 2.0 Introduction:

The evidence base on the topic of out-of-hours doctors providing care for palliative care patients in the community is scant. This study aims to focus specifically on general practitioners who work in the out-of-hours setting on a regular basis. Since the introduction of the new out-of-hours (OOH) provisions under the General Practitioner Contract in October 2004, this area of care has changed drastically and only a small percentage of the overall general practitioner workforce still works in this specific setting. We explore factors influencing confidence in dealing with symptom control and palliative care provision within this group of doctors.

## 3.0 Context:

#### 3.1 General context:

It is estimated that patients with cancer spend 90% of their last year of life in their home and at least two-thirds of this falls within out-of-hours-time. <sup>1 2</sup> The term 'out-of-hours' in the United Kingdom is defined as evenings, weekends from Friday evening to Monday morning, and public holidays. This reflects the working hours of many primary care and palliative care staff, although GP surgeries' opening hours vary within the working hours of 8 am and 6.30 pm. <sup>3</sup>

Centralised services including NHS Direct in England and Wales and NHS 24 in Scotland have presented a new framework providing 24-hour telephone advice, which acts as a point of access to out-of-hours services. The intention of this service is to offer advice and effective triage, in order to deliver appropriate care quickly and efficiently. <sup>4</sup> Patients are now unlikely to receive care out-of-hours from their usual practice doctor. There has been a shift from out-of-hours care provided by local general practices and their co-operatives to more distant emergency clinics or telephone advice. <sup>5</sup> The research question in the title lends itself to a qualitative design. It will hopefully provide valuable answers and insight into the interaction between doctors and palliative care patients out of normal working hours and may help identify perceived positive and negative influences on confidence in this group of doctors.

#### 3.2 Current hot topic: national context

More than half the population want to die at home, but less than a fifth of deaths actually take place in the domiciliary setting.<sup>6</sup> Lord Darzi, recently appointed Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State at the Department of Health, thinks the National Health Service should respond swiftly to these problems; increasing the options available locally to encourage more flexible opening hours for general practices is one of his priorities. In addition, end-of-life care will be one of the topics to be given detailed consideration by clinicians in working groups across England.<sup>7</sup>

A research summary from the National Institute for Health Research recently produced a report detailing research priorities in this area.<sup>8</sup> One of the key areas, is defining and evaluating models of out-of-hours provision. The summary stated that research to understand more about factors affecting place of care and death, about the experience of dying, resource, support and care needs within the home, hospital, and care homes were priorities.

The National Health Service aims to empower, enable, train and support general practitioners, district and community nurses, and encourage them to work in conjunction with specialist palliative care services where necessary. Programs underpinning this policy include a £6 million Government investment in education and training for district nurses (DNs) in palliative care (at the time of writing no education and training program exists specifically aimed at out-of-hours doctors). End of Life Care Strategies in England have looked at uptake of three initiatives: the Gold Standards Framework (GSF see also Appendix 1), the Liverpool Care Pathway (England only see Appendix 2), and Preferred Place of Care plans to enhance the choice of dying at home if patients wish. <sup>9-15</sup>

These programs have come into effect during a time of change in the organization and delivery of primary care. The introduction of a new contract for NHS general practitioners (GPs) and the reconfiguration of out-of-hours services have altered the activities of GPs, and may affect their role in the provision of palliative care.<sup>16 17</sup> It is not yet known how this has affected out-of-hours providers and whether general practitioners working in this setting feel supported and informed on aspects of care such as symptom management.

For GPs working day-time (in-hours), support patterns and their uptake can vary. Some GPs use specialist palliative care services only infrequently, whilst others use them as a resource (the most common model), or work with them as part of an extended team. A final group of GPs look to hand over care or responsibility completely to specialist services.<sup>18</sup> These widely varying approaches have important implications for specialist providers who offer advice and support to primary care within their local area. They also have implications for out-of-hours providers in the primary care setting. It will be interesting to bear the above in mind when this project starts, as perceived confidence-factors from the point of view of out-of-hours doctors could inform future strategy and needs assessments. Solutions to overcome potential difficulties could form a more detailed research project, for instance, piloting a scheme specifically for out-of-hours doctors and palliative care.

#### 3.3 Local Context- existing services:

In the local context, Cardiff and South Wales' responsibility for health care was transferred in 2004 from GPs to local primary care organisations, providing unscheduled care services. There is an allocated out-of-hours care provider for every local health board. In Cardiff, this is covered by a private company called Serco <u>http://www.serco.co.uk/markets/health/community/index.asp</u>. Serco aims to work with the NHS to improve community-based health services. They provide out-of-hours GP services to more than one million people in Cardiff, Oxford and Cornwall handling calls from the public, running clinics and providing home visits to urgent cases.

Their telephone out-of-hours service itself is called "Connect 2 Cardiff" (C2C) which is also known as "Connect to Out of Hours Cardiff". This service is run in conjunction with Cardiff City Council and the Local Health Board.

In Cardiff, from 30 September 2004, the provision of out-of- hours General Practitioner services became the responsibility of Cardiff Local Health Board rather than that of individual GPs. The out-of-hours service operates between 6.30pm and 8.00 am during weekdays, and for the full 24 hour period on Saturday, Sunday and Bank Holidays.<sup>19</sup>

If Cardiff residents need immediate medical attention outside of normal surgery hours, and cannot wait until their practice is next open, they call their usual GP number. A recorded message will give them the phone number for the out-of-hours service. A registered nurse will then ring the patient back in respect of the most appropriate course of action. This action can include advice, self-medication or advising patients to see their own GP during normal surgery hours.

If patients need to be seen by a health care professional immediately, they will be advised to attend one of the two new out-of-hours primary care centres - based at Cardiff Royal Infirmary and University Hospital of Wales. The unit at Cardiff Royal Infirmary is the main primary care centre, and has been refurbished to provide a modern healthcare facility. Home visits are arranged if a patient is too unwell to attend one of the out-of-hours centres.

All patients who are asked to attend one of the out-of-hours centres are assessed face-to-face by a nurse on arrival, and referred to an appropriate health professional. Any immediate medication that is needed is dispensed to patients when they are seen.

If a patient contacts NHS Direct initially and requires input from the regional out-ofhours provider, then this is arranged via the local provider.

## 4.0 Background

#### 4.1 General practice and palliative care provision

A qualitative study published in 2006<sup>3</sup> explores the experiences and perceptions of out-of-hours care of patients with advanced cancer, and their informal and professional carers including their own General Practitioners, in Scotland. This study analyses interview data obtained from GP-cooperatives, where data was collected sequentially, between January 2002 and April 2003, before the introduction of NHS 24 in Scotland, and before the current out-of-hours arrangements as specified above.

Professionals expressed concern about delivering good palliative care within the constraints of a generic acute service, including inability to spend much time with this patient group and problems accessing other health and social care services. General Practitioners felt that improved communication between in-hours and the out-of-hours services, particularly provision of up-to-date information from daytime to out-of-hours services, was crucial for improving triage, decision making and continuity of care.

A further study looked at a recently introduced out-of-hours protocol for palliative care to the area of Calderdale and Kirklees, and found that the protocol had made a positive contribution to provision of care in the area. <sup>20</sup> In the study, GPs from different practices were asked about their experiences with a protocol for provision of palliative care outside normal hours. The consensus was that a protocol specifying areas such as provision of medication and information handover sheets, faxed from the patients' regular GP, was seen as very useful.

Both the abovementioned studies were conducted prior to the introduction of the new General Medical Services Contract, at a time when nearly all GPs worked in the outof-hours setting, for example via local cooperatives. Now, comparatively, only a small percentage work outside normal working hours. The new General Medical Services contract has produced a very different, self-select group of doctors who work in this setting because they choose to, and who form a much smaller percentage of the General Practitioner workforce locally than used to be the case.

As a more general group, GPs are keen to learn more about palliative medicine and symptom control however when faced with increased difficulty in accessing information locally, this is associated with reduced confidence in symptom control.<sup>5</sup>

Palliative care patients who receive holistic support (i.e. incorporating different professionals for different approaches and involving family and friends in the process) in the community may be less likely to require admission to hospital, and often futile treatments at the end of their lives.<sup>21</sup> Good support mechanisms, such as hospital at home services for patients nearing the end of their lives, are associated with improved

home care and reduced need to contact the out-of-hours services.<sup>22</sup> Community palliative care is becoming more established with assessment tools such as the Gold Standards Framework <sup>20</sup> (Appendix1). Doctors working in primary care have the potential as well as the ability to provide end of life care.<sup>23 24</sup> The out-of-hours service should form an important part of this process, as it has to provide more hours of care each week than the in-hours services do.

# 4.2 What research has already been done on palliative care training for general practitioners and existing knowledge base

It is worth looking at research on palliative care education, knowledge base and accessibility of specialist services for General Practitioners as a group in general, as this could form an important factor influencing their perceived levels of confidence in symptom control. One of the main aims of specialist palliative care is to empower generic healthcare workers to care for dying patients; transfer of best practice from a hospice setting to other care settings, including for non-cancer patients, is a major challenge.<sup>25</sup>

The UK General Medical Council (GMC) identifies palliative care and care of patients terminally ill, as one of the core content areas for undergraduate medical education.<sup>26</sup> Hallenbeck <sup>27</sup> argues that adequate training in palliative medicine should be a necessity, not a luxury, especially for generalists who get involved in treating the chronically ill, and that it must go well beyond what is taught in medical school and residency years. Conversely, available evidence suggests that senior physicians tend to overestimate their knowledge and competence on palliative care related matters.<sup>28</sup> Skeff in 1992 highlighted the inadequacy of palliative care training for general physicians.<sup>29</sup>

A study of UK General Practice Registrars revealed they had mixed perceptions about their palliative care education and concluded that future educational packages should ensure that these trainees receive planned systematic training in bereavement care and some practical experience in the use of syringe drivers.<sup>30</sup>

A survey of 399 Welsh GPs by Barclay et al found small, but significant deficiencies in palliative care training during the GP registrar year. Whereas 30% cited an absence of training in bereavement care, 20% reported no training in controlling non-pain symptoms, and 15% reported a lack of training in communication and pain control.<sup>31</sup>

Charlton et al studied 210 GP registrars in 1999 in the West Midlands, UK, to evaluate their self-perceived skills in palliative care. Perceived skill ratings were seen to increase throughout the GP registrar year in the absence of a specific course, but the anxiety about caring for the dying patient was not observed to decrease.<sup>32</sup> This finding confirms Doyle's study 17 years earlier in the United Kingdom that vocational training in general practice has a positive impact on palliative care knowledge and skills.<sup>33</sup>

A survey of 79 Exeter and East Devon qualified GPs in the south of England in 1993 revealed over a third had received no education relevant to palliative care in the previous 3 years. An analysis of the perceived difficulties of these GPs found a quarter either "frequently" or "always" had problems controlling

symptoms other than pain.<sup>34</sup>

This is interesting in the context of some of these trainees likely forming the next generation of out-of-hours doctors, and GP-registrar training schemes generally require their trainees to work 72 hours in the setting during the training year, some of which may cover palliative care patients.

The out-of-hours primary care service covers nights, weekends and bank-holidays and is responsible for providing care for 75% of the hours in the week. Services are used to dealing with acute emergencies and, as such, often struggle to meet the medical, nursing, and social care needs of dying people and their families.<sup>21</sup> The Gold Standards Framework aims to provide a regular stream of information between daytime primary care and the out of hours service.<sup>35</sup> In addition, one study indicates that areas that have GP-facilitators in palliative care appear to improve attitudes towards specialist palliative care services, with results suggesting increased satisfaction with out-of-hours services for patients.<sup>34 36</sup>

Conversely, a postal survey in London sent out to GP practices found a distinct lack of local service knowledge; 65% of GPs were currently providing palliative care to patients on their practice list; 72% agreed or strongly agreed palliative care was a central part of their role. 27% wanted to hand care over to specialists. Most GPs (66%) disagreed with the statement that "palliative care is mainly district nursing work". Many were unaware of out of hours district nurse and specialist palliative care services.<sup>37</sup> This survey was conducted before the new General Medical Services contract for general practitioners.

An analysis of calls to an out-of-hours palliative care advice line in Liverpool showed that advice requested was largely related to management of pain and the use of opiates, e.g. breakthrough dose of opiates and conversion of drugs to syringe drivers.<sup>38</sup>

There is therefore, amongst general practitioners a very wide-ranging knowledgebase when it comes to palliative care; some have had training and are more confident, others are not. It would seem reasonable to assume the same for out-of-hours doctors, most of whom are GPs in their own right and often work in-hours as part time or even full GPs. Interviewing this group specifically will provide an evidence-base.

There are some unanswered questions here; for example, why do so many people tend to die in hospital and could the same level of care have been provided at home, with a good out-of-hours support service? Are out-of-hours doctors referring palliative care patients to an inpatient setting due to a lack of training and confidence in areas such as symptom control?

## 5.0 Aims

- Focus on doctors working in the out-of-hours setting and how confident they feel about symptom control for palliative patients in this setting
- Perceptions on what helps or hinders their confidence in palliative care; symptom management will be explored

• Aim to interview this self-select group of out-of-hours GPs, as 'out-of-hours specialists' in their own right

Whereas most studies on the topic focus on surveying general practitioners indiscriminately (at a time when most of them provided out-of-hours provision regularly), this would no longer appear appropriate today, as most GPs no longer work out-of-hours, and only a minority work these shifts on a regular basis. The proposed MSc project will focus on doctors working in the out-of-hours setting and how confident they feel about symptom control for palliative patients in this setting.

In particular, their perceptions on what helps or hinders their confidence in palliative care symptom management will be explored. The aim is to interview this self-select group of out-of-hours GPs, as 'out-of-hours specialists' in their own right and to analyse the data accordingly, compared to previous studies that interviewed and looked at GPs as a whole group.

## 6.0 Methodology

#### 6.1 Initial Reflection and Preparation

In the interest of reflexivity, it is worth my explaining how I will fit into this process and what my background is. I am a Specialist Registrar in Palliative Medicine in my second year and entered the specialty via General Practice training, which I undertook in Gwent, a county in South Wales, UK. As part of this training I fulfilled 72 hours of out-of-hours work in the Gwent area. I therefore bring some experience of the setting and have seen palliative care patients at night and at weekends. This is why I have an interest in this field.

The purpose of this MSc is to find out if out-of-hours doctors perceive themselves as confident in symptom control in palliative care and what factors influence this. To prepare this project I have done some general, wider reading on the topic of qualitative research and have had a discussion with my project tutor. Having been involved in General Practice out-of-hours provisions brings advantages and disadvantages; it will introduce some form of bias and in fact, some of the GPs locally may know me and remember me. It will, however, also give me an insider perspective, which would be difficult to achieve for a researcher who has never worked in General Practice.

To this effect I have looked at interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) as a process that specifically looks at individuals experiences of specific events and what meaning and context this has for them. Personal experience is explored in depth via interviews rather than trying to objectify an event or experience. But IPA also puts an emphasis on the researcher and his potential prior experience, not so much as a potential bias but as an aid to interpret and see things from an insider perspective.<sup>39</sup>

Access both depends on and is made more complicated by the fact that I have my own experiences and conceptions in the field of General Practice, out-of-hours work and also specialist palliative medicine. It will, according to Smith and Osborn,<sup>39</sup> create a two stage interpretation process (a double hermeneutic process): the participants are

trying to make sense of their world, whilst I, the researcher am trying to make sense of them trying to make sense of *their world*.

## 6.2 Study Design:

Semi structured taped interviews with General Practitioners working for the Cardiff out-of-hours service provided by "Connect2Cardiff".

## 6.3 Recruitment

- Connect2Cardiff and Cardiff Local Health Board will be approached and asked whether they agree for General Practitioners working for their out-of-hours-service to be interviewed
- General Practitioners will be invited in writing and verbally to participate in the study. To this purpose, they will receive a participant information sheet (**Appendix 3**) and requested to contact the principal investigator (PI) if they wish to take part.

## 6.4 Inclusion criteria

- General Practitioners who work in the out-of-hours service on a regular basis, ie at least two shifts a month
- General Practitioners should have worked in this setting for at least one year.

## 6.4 Exclusion criteria

• General Practice Registrars and Specialty Trainees will not be included

## 6.5 Interview procedure

Potential participants will be given study contact details, so that they can volunteer and/or seek further information. Interested volunteers will receive written (**Appendix 3**) and verbal information about the purpose of the study, methods, handling and outcome of data from the study as well as details regarding storage of information and its disposal. General Practitioners will be asked to give consent in writing (consent form in **Appendix 4**) to participate in the study once they have understood its purpose and methods and agreed to participate.

Taped interviews between the interviewer and participant will take place at a preagreed times and locations. Approximately thirty minutes will be allocated for interviews, but they are open-ended. Data on the interviewees work experience, as well as training and current positions will be obtained. During interviews, participants will be asked to reflect on their experiences with palliative care patients in the community and out-of-hours setting and to talk about symptom management in this context. Interview will be lead by the interviewer using several pre-defined sentences which will act as prompts.

## 7.0 Data analysis

Transcript data will be analysed in light of the research question and will be IPA. The process will be started without a pre-defined hypothesis in mind, as advised by Silverman in his book "Doing Qualitative Research". <sup>40</sup> Following interviews, tapes will be transcribed by the principal investigator and/or secretarial staff. Each transcript will receive a code number and any identifying key data will be removed to keep participants and their subject matter anonymous. On reading transcripts, concepts and commonalities will be highlighted and categorized. A specific system of coding will be used in order to group answers to prompts during the interviews. The emergent themes and the research question will form the basis of the coding strategy.

## 8.0 Data storage

Transcribed data will be coded for anonymity. Names and addresses will not appear on transcripts. Transcriptions will be kept on secure, password-protected file on the principal investigators work computer at Velindre Hospital in Cardiff. This computer is located within the principal investigator's own office, which is locked when he is not using it.

Transcribed tapes will be destroyed immediately, and participants will therefore not be given a copy on request. They will be informed about this at the beginning of the study.

Consent forms will be stored in a lockable cupboard in the principal investigators office at Velindre Hospital.

## 9.0 Ethics

The principal investigator will undertake a Good Clinical Practice course in April 2008 and the study will be conducted in accordance with GCP guidance. The local risk review committee will be consulted. Local research ethics committee approval will be sought.

## **10.0 Adverse Events**

No adverse events are anticipated arising from the proposed study. No therapeutic experimental interventions are taking place and there is no patient involvement.

## **11.0 Cost and Expenses**

The principal investigator will transcribe data himself and will not require secretarial support for this. A tape recorder will be purchased, born out of the principal investigators own expenses. GPs participating in the study will receive a remuneration of £60 each.

## 12.0 Sponsor

Any projects that require Research & Development (R&D) and Ethics approval will need sponsorship. This usually applies when a project involves NHS staff, patients and/or relatives.

For the purpose of the MSc in Palliative Medicine, Cardiff University's Research and Commercial Division (RACD) has agreed to act as a sponsor for MSc students undertaking a research project as part of their MSc course. (see document "Guidance and Standard Operating Procedure"

http://cue.cf.ac.uk/webapps/portal/frameset.jsp?tab\_id=\_2\_1&url=%2Fwebapps%2Fblackboar d%2Fexecute%2Flauncher%3Ftype%3DCourse%26id%3D\_80381\_1%26url%3D )

## **13.0 Timetable of events:**

- Sept 2007-Nov 2007: Introductory MSc course and formulate a research question and research interests. Find a research project supervisor.
- Nov 2007-Feb 2008: Formulate a research proposal, including background, local/national context, relevance and aims. Incl. some methodology. Meet with supervisor to discuss this. Keep working on draft. E-mail versions to supervisor regularly for input. Get similar MSc for some guidance (Dr Helen Johnson's project)
- Feb 2008: second residential course (14<sup>th</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> Feb). Get National Research Ethics account (NRES), download relevant qualitative study forms
- March/April 2008 : Write a risk review and submit to risk review people/board
- April 2008: Submit to Ethics. Submit to local NHS Research & Development management section for approval
- April/May 2008: GCP course for new staff
- May 2008-August 2008: Chapter plan
- August 2008-Dec 2008: Very provisional dates for data collection. Try to write up transcripts at the same time
- Dec2008- April 2009: Write-up, i.e. chapter drafts, one by one
- 30<sup>th</sup> Sept 2009: Deadline for MSc submission

## 14.0 Appendices

## Appendix 1:

## Gold Standards Framework and out of hours cover:

It is worth giving special mention to the Gold Standards Framework (GSF) here, as practices that institute it consider informing out-of-hours services of their palliative care patients a priority. GSF is a systematic evidence based approach to optimising the care for patients nearing the end of life in the community.<sup>13 41</sup>

It was originally developed from within primary care for primary care by Dr Keri Thomas (a GP with a Special Interest in Palliative Care and NHS National Clinical lead for Generalist Palliative Care), supported by a multidisciplinary reference group of specialists and generalists, to improve palliative care provided in the community by the patient's usual health care team.

General Practitioners set up the Gold Standards Framework in their practices for their palliative care patients and follow seven sets of standards when implementing them:

'communication', 'co-ordination', 'control of symptoms', 'continued learning', 'carer support', 'care in the dying phase' and importantly for the context of this MSc 'continuity including out of hours'. This means that ideally the general practitioner who sees palliative care patients 'in-hours', will supply the out-of-hours service with regular updates, for example via weekly faxes, or when there is a change in patients' health status. Practices are thus encouraged to have a constantly updated register of their palliative care patients and are encouraged to hold regular meetings with specialist community palliative care patients. Areas that have taken up the Gold Standards Framework have had a positive response from general practitioners, although increased work-load was a concern for participating practices and GSF coordinators.<sup>42</sup> Also of special note is the continued learning arm of this framework, which encourages education in palliative care related matters within practices.

#### **Appendix 2:**

#### Liverpool Care Pathway (England only):

The Liverpool Care Pathway for dying patients <sup>15</sup> was developed to transfer the hospice model of care into other care settings including the community. It is not used in Wales, but interviewees who have worked for out of hours services in England may have seen it in use. It consists of a multiprofessional folder/document, providing a framework for the dying phase. Guidance is given on different aspects of care, including anticipatory prescribing of medication, comfort measures, and discontinuation of inappropriate interventions such as blood tests. Furthermore, the document provides guidance on psychological, spiritual and family support. In Wales, many healthcare professionals incl. GPs access advice on medications from the pallcare.info website

## Appendix 3:

## Participant information sheet

You are invited to take part in a research study. This leaflet explains what the study is about and what I will involve should you volunteer to take part. Please ask or write to the proincipal investigator if there is anything unclear or you have further questions. **Study Title** 

## Out-of-hours doctors' confidence when dealing with symptom control in palliative care patients

## What is the purpose of the study?

There has been a lot of press-coverage on the topic of out-of-hours care over the last years.

However, the evidence base on the topic of out-of-hours doctors providing care for palliative care patients in the community is scant. This study aims to focus specifically on general practitioners who work in the out-of-hours setting on a regular basis. Since the introduction of the new out-of-hours (OOH) provisions under the General Practitioner Contract in October 2004, this area of care has changed drastically and only a small percentage of the overall general practitioner workforce still works in this specific setting. We explore factors influencing confidence in dealing with symptom control and palliative care provision within this group of doctors. By interviewing 10 General Practitioners who provide out-of-hours care for the Cardiff area, this project sets out to explore factors influencing their confidence in dealing with symptom control and palliative care provision outside regular working hours.

The research study will be conducted during 2008 by Dr. Mark Taubert as part of an MSc in Palliative Medicine with Cardiff University. He works as a specialist registrar in palliative medicine at University Hospital of Wales, Heath Park, Cardiff.

## Why have I been asked to participate?

You have been asked to take part because you work in the out-of-hours setting and have contact with palliative patients in the community, dealing with symptom control issues in this group of patients, for instance administering pain killers and adjusting the dose of syringe drivers.

## Do I have to participate?

Absolutely not, this study relies on voluntary contribution. If you do take part you will be given this information leaflet to keep and will be given a consent form to sign. You will be free to change your mind at any point without giving a reason.

#### What will happen if I take part?

The research is in the form of a interview with Dr Mark Taubert, which is openended, but expected to last for about half an hour. Dr Taubert will arrange a time and location that is convenient to you. The interview will take place at Cardiff Royal Infirmary or at a location convenient to you. You will only be interviewed once.

#### The interview will be audio-tape-recorded and then transcribed by the

**researcher.** Your name will not appear on the tape-recording or on any of the written transcripts. The transcripts will be used in conjunction with other interview transcripts

to gauge an understanding of out-of-hours GPs' confidence in palliative symptom control. Direct quotes from the interview might be included in the published study but it will not be possible to identify you from this or any other information. After the audio-recordings are transcribed the recordings will be destroyed.

#### Possible disadvantages and risks of taking part

The interview will take up to an hour or so of your time. Discussing the topic of palliative medicine and palliative patient and their relatives can sometimes be emotional and upsetting.

#### Possible benefits of taking part

You will help in giving us more of an understanding of what out-of-hours doctors' needs are in this setting. There appear to have been no studies so far actually directly interviewing out-of-hours doctors and asking them how they feel about care-provision in this area. This study may help develop national policy in this area.

#### What if something goes wrong?

The interview can be stopped at any point if you wish to stop. If you want to complain, or have any concerns about the interview or interviewer or any aspect of the way you have been approached or treated during the study, the Cardiff University complaint mechanism is available to you.

#### Confidentiality

Any information collected will be anonymised. All information will be kept strictly confidential. The audio recordings and other information will be locked away and destroyed after interviews have been transcribed. It will not be possible for anyone to identify you from the written research. Cardiff Local Health Board and Serco are aware that this study is taking place and have given their consent.

#### What will happen to results?

The study will be written up as part of an MSc in Palliative Medicine by Mark Taubert and submitted to Cardiff University in September 2009. Results will be published in one or more learned medical journals and conference abstracts \*(see Appendix) to inform a wider group of doctors.

#### **Organisation/ Funding**

The research is being organised by Dr Mark Taubert under the supervision of Dr Annmarie Nelson, a lead researcher at the Wales Clinical Trials Unit at University Hospital of Wales. The researcher will not be paid for carrying out the research.

#### Who has reviewed the study?

The local Cardiff Research Ethics Committee will be reviewing this study.

#### **Contact for further information** If you would like further information or would like to participate in the study please contact: Dr Mark Taubert Department of Palliative Medicine University Hospital of Wales Heath Park Cardiff CF14 4YS

e-mail: mtaubert@ work: 02920 74 3 77

Thank you for reading this leaflet and considering taking part in this study. If you decide to take part you will keep a copy of this leaflet and a signed consent form for your own records.

Date:..... Version: 1

#### Appendix 4:

## **Consent Form:**

Doctor identification number for this study: xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

#### **Title of Project:**

Out-of-hours doctors' confidence when dealing with symptom control in palliative care patients.

Name of Researcher: Dr. Mark Taubert

Please initial boxes below

- **1.** I herewith confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet dated ...... version ..... for the above study and have had the opportunity to ask questions
- 2. I understand that participation is entirely voluntary and that I can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason and that this will not affect my work with Cardiff out-of-hours service.
- 3. I agree to the research interview being audio-tape-recorded.
- 4. I am willing to participate in a taped interview and understand that the tape will be destroyed after transcription. I am willing for anonymised data to be used for the purposes of publication in a peer reviewed journal or dissemination at a peer reviewed or educational medical meeting
- 5. I agree to take part in the above study

Name of Participant	Signature	Date
Researcher	Signature	Date
1 copy for participant		

1 copy for researcher

Appendix 5 (added 2011):

**Resulting Publications** (<sup>i ii iii iv</sup>) <sup>43-46</sup>

2011:

- Taubert, M. 2011. Palliative Care provided by out-of-hours doctors setting the scene and implementing an education programme. Presented at: BMJ International Forum Quality and Safety in Healthcare, Amsterdam, 05-08 April 2011.
- Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2011. Heartsink encounters: a qualitative study of end-of-life care in out-of-hours general practice. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine Short Reports 2(9), article number: 70. (10.1258/shorts.2011.011020)
- Taubert, M., Noble, S. I. and Nelson, A. 2011. What challenges good palliative care provision out-of-hours? A qualitative interview study of out-of-hours general practitioners. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care 1(1), pp. 13-18. (10.1136/bmjspcare-2011-000015)
- Nelson, A. and Taubert, M. 2011. P1009: Heart sink encounters- emotional strain of end of life care for out-of-hours doctors. Presented at: 12th Congress of the European Association for Palliative Care, Lisbon, Portugal, 18-21 May 2011Abstract Book of the 12th Congress of the EAPC. European Journal of Palliative Care: Hayward Medical Communications

2010:

- Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. Out-of-hours GPs and palliative care-a qualitative study exploring information exchange and communication issues. BMC Palliative Care 9, article number: 18. (10.1186/1472-684X-9-18)
- Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. 'Oh God, not a Palliative': out-of-hours general practitioners within the domain of palliative care. Palliative Medicine 24(5), pp. 501-509. (10.1177/0269216310368580)
- Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. Strangers in the night Out of hours doctors and palliative care patients. Presented at: The 8th Palliative Care Congress, Palliative Medicine. 24(2):217, 2010., Bournemouth, UK, 10-12 March 2010.

#### **15.0 References:**

- 1. Thomas K. Out-of-hours palliative care bridging the gap
- *Eur J Palliat Care* 2000(7):22–25.
- 2. Shipman CA-H, J Barclay, S, et al. . Providing palliative care in primary care: how satisfied are GPs and district nurses with current out-of-hours arrangements? *Br J Gen Pract* 2000(50):477–478.
- 3. Worth A, et al. Out-of-hours palliative care: a qualitative study of cancer patients, carers and professionals. *Br J Gen Pract* 2006;56(522):6–13.
- 4. Salisbury C. Out-of-hours care: ensuring accessible high quality care for all groups of patients. *Br J Gen Pract* 2000;50(455):443-4.
- 5. Shipman C, Payne F, Dale J, Jessopp L. Patient-perceived benefits of and barriers to using out-of-hours primary care centres. *Fam Pract* 2001;18(2):149-55.
- 6. Higginson I. Priorities and preferences for end of life care in England, Wales and Scotland. The Cicely Saunders Foundation, Scottish Partnership for Palliative Care and the National Council for Hospice and Specialist Palliative Care Services, London(2003). 2003.
- 7. Darzi A. What next for the NHS? The Lancet 2007;370(9596):1393.
- 8. Higginson I. Care provided by generalists at the end of life:scoping exercise on research priorities. *Service Delivery and Organisation Programme, National Instutue for Health Research* 2007.
- 9. Storey L, Pemberton C, Howard A, O'Donnell L. Place of death: Hobson's choice or patient choice? . *Cancer Nursing Practice* 2003;2:33-38.

10. Department of Health. The NHS Cancer Plan. A plan for investment. A plan for reform. Report

London, Department of Health 2000.

- 11. NICE. Guidance on Cancer Services. Improving Supportive and Palliative
- Care for Adults with Cancer. The Manual. *London, National Institute for Clinical Excellence* 2004.
- 12. Department of Health. Building on the Best: Choice, Responsiveness and Equity in the NHS. CM 6079, 1-71. *Norwich, The Stationery Office* 2003.
- 13. Thomas K. The Gold Standards Framework in community palliative care. *Eur J Pall Care* 2003;10:113-115.
- 14. Ellershaw JE, Murphy D, Shea T, Foster A, S. O. Development of a multiprofessional care pathway for the dying patient. *Eur J Pall Care* 1997;4:203-208.
- 15. Ellershaw JE, Wilkinson S. Care of the Dying: A Pathway to Excellence. *Oxford: Oxford University Press* 2003.
- 16. Department of Health. Investing in General Practice. The New General Medical Services Contract.London, Department of Health. 2003.
- 17. Department of Health. Raising Standards for Patients. New Partnerships
- in Out-of-Hours Care. An Independent Review of GP Out-of-Hours
- Services in England. London, Department of Health 2000.
- Shipman C, Addington-Hall JM, Barclay S, Briggs J, Daniels L, Millar D. How and why do GPs use specialist palliative care services? *Palliat Med* 2002;16(3):241-246.
- 19. Cardiff Local Health Board. <u>http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=262&pid=5836</u>. 2004.

- 20. King N, Bell D, Thomas K. An out-of-hours-protocol for community palliative care: practitioners perspectives. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing* 2003;9(7):1-6.
- 21. Murray S, Boyd K, Sheikh A, Thomas K, Higginson I. Developing primary palliative care *BMJ* 2004;329:1056-1057.
- 22. Grande G, Todd C. A randomized controlled trial of a hospital at home service for the terminally ill *Palliative Medicine* 2000;14(5):375-385.
- 23. Charlton R. Primary palliative care. Oxford: Radcliffe Medical Press 2002.
- 24. Harding R, Higginson I. What is the best way to help caregivers in cancer and palliative care? A systematic literature review of interventions and their effectiveness. *Palliat Med* 2003;17:63-74.
- 25. Ellershaw J, Ward C, Neuberger RJ. Care of the dying patient: the last hours or days of life \* Commentary: a "good death" is possible in the NHS. *BMJ* 2003;326(7379):30-34.
- 26. General Medical Council. Tomorrow's doctors. Recommendations on undergraduate medical education *London: GMC* 2002.
- 27. Hallenbeck J. Palliative Care Training for the Generalist A Luxury or A Necessity? . *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2006;21(9):1005-1006.
- 28. von Gunten C. Interventions to manage symptoms at the end of life. *J Palliat Med* 2005;8(suppl 1):S88-S94.
- 29. Skeff K, Stratos G, Bergen M. Evaluation of a medical faculty development program. *Eval The Health Prof* 1992(15):350-66.
- 30. Low J, Cloherty M, Wilkinson S, Barclay S, Hibble A. A UK-wide postal survey to evaluate palliative care education amongst General Practice Registrars. *Palliative Medicine* 2006;20(4):463.
- 31. Barclay S, Wyatt P, Shore S, Finlay I, Grande G, Todd C. Caring for the dying: how well prepared are general practitioners? A questionnaire study in Wales. *Palliat Med.* 2003;17:27-39.
- 32. Charlton R, Field S, Faull C, Campbell I, Harper C, Harper L. The effect of the general practice registrar year on perceived skills in palliative care in the West Midlands. *Med Educ*. 2000;34:928-935.
- 33. Doyle D, Parry KM, MacFarlane RG. Education in terminal care. *J Royal Coll Gen Pract.* 1982;32:335-338.
- 34. Seamark DA, Lawrence C, Gilbert J. Characteristics of referrals to an inpatient hospice and a survey of general practitioner perceptions of palliative care. *J R Soc Med.* 1996;89:79-84.
- 35. Thomas K. Caring for the dying at home. Companions on a journey. *Oxford: Radcliffe Medical Press* 2003.
- 36. Shipman C, Addington-Hall J, Thompson M, Pearce A, Barclay S, Cox I, et al. Building Bridges in Palliative Care: evaluating a GP facilitator programme. *Palliative Medicine* 2003;17:621-627.
- 37. Burt J, Shipman C, Addington-Hall JM, White P. Palliative Care:Perspectives on caring for dying people in London. *London, King's Fund* 2005.
- 38. Lloyd-Williams M, Rashid A. An analysis of calls to an out-of-hours palliative care advice line. *Public Health* 2003;117(2):125-7.
- 39. Smith JA, Osborn M. Interpretative phenomenological analysis•. *Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods* 2003.
- 40. Silverman D. Doing Qualitative Research: A Practical Handbook: Sage Pubns, 2005.

- 41. Thomas K. <u>http://www.goldstandardsframework.nhs.uk/</u>. accessed November 2007.
- 42. King N, Thomas K, Martin N, Bell D, Farrell S. 'Now nobody falls through the net': practitioners' perspectives on the Gold Standards Framework for community palliative care. *Palliative Medicine* 2005;19(8):619.
- 43. Taubert M, Nelson A. Heartsink encounters: a qualitative study of end-of-life care in out-of-hours general practice. JRSM Short Rep 2011; 2(9): 70.
- 44. Taubert, M., Noble, S. I. and Nelson, A. 2011. What challenges good palliative care provision out-of-hours? A qualitative interview study of out-of-hours general practitioners. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care 1(1), pp. 13-18. 10.1136/bmjspcare-2011-000015
- 45. Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. Out-of-hours GPs and palliative care-a qualitative study exploring information exchange and communication issues. BMC Palliative Care 9, article number: 18. 10.1186/1472-684X-9-18
- 46. Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. 'Oh God, not a Palliative': out-of-hours general practitioners within the domain of palliative care. Palliative Medicine 24(5), pp. 501-509. 10.1177/0269216310368580

#### **Citations:**

<sup>ii</sup> Taubert, M., Noble, S. I. and Nelson, A. 2011. What challenges good palliative care provision out-of-hours? A qualitative interview study of out-of-hours general practitioners. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care 1(1), pp. 13-18. 10.1136/bmjspcare-2011-000015

<sup>iii</sup> Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. Out-of-hours GPs and palliative care-a qualitative study exploring information exchange and communication issues. BMC Palliative Care 9, article number: 18. 10.1186/1472-684X-9-18

<sup>iv</sup> Taubert, M. and Nelson, A. 2010. 'Oh God, not a Palliative': out-of-hours general practitioners within the domain of palliative care. Palliative Medicine 24(5), pp. 501-509. 10.1177/0269216310368580

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Taubert M, Nelson A. Heartsink encounters: a qualitative study of end-of-life care in out-of-hours general practice. JRSM Short Rep 2011; 2(9): 70.